RECEIVED

11-13-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP001745-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL L. COX,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Certification from the Court of Appeals, Reviewing a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable William W. Brash, III, Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable T. Christopher Dee, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Did the circuit court have the authority to waive the \$250 DNA Surcharge in this post-January 1, 2014, felony case?

At sentencing, the circuit court waived the \$250 deoxyribonucleic acid (hereinafter "DNA") Surcharge. (24:36;App.125). Despite the court's oral pronouncements, the judgment of conviction reflects that Mr. Michael Cox must pay the Surcharge. The circuit court, a new judge now presiding, denied Mr. Cox's post-conviction motion to vacate the Surcharge, on grounds that it did not have authority to waive it. The Court of Appeals certified this question to this Court. (*State v. Cox*, No.16AP1745-CR, *Certification* by Wisconsin Court of Appeals)(Aug. 29, 2017)(App.101-106) (hereinafter "Certification").

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to accept review reflects that oral argument and publication are warranted.

RELEVANT STATUTES

973.045 Crime victim and witness assistance surcharge. (1) If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation, the court shall impose a crime victim and witness assistance surcharge. A surcharge imposed under this subsection may not be waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason. The surcharge is the total amount calculated by adding up the amount for every misdemeanor count and every felony count as follows:

(a) For each misdemeanor count on which a conviction occurred, \$67.

(b) For each felony count on which a conviction occurred, \$92.

• • • • • • • •

973.046 Deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge. (1r) If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation, the court shall impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge, calculated as follows:

(a) For each conviction for a felony, \$250.

(b) For each conviction for a misdemeanor, \$200.

Wis. Stats. §§ 973.045(1) and 973.046(1r)(2015-16).¹

 $^{^{1}}$ Mr. Cox has also provided the entirety of these two statutes in the Appendix. (App.134-135). Unless otherwise noted, all references to the Wisconsin statutes are to the 2015-16 version of the statutes.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The State charged Mr. Cox with one count of second degree recklessly endangering safety (Count 1) and one count of possession of tetrahydrocannabinols, second and subsequent offense (Count 2), after he was stopped for driving the wrong way on a highway. (1).

As support for the second and subsequent penalty enhancer on Count 2, the State attached to the complaint a certified judgment of conviction from Milwaukee Case Number 10-CF-4234, signed March 30, 2011, which stated that Mr. Cox was required in that case to "[p]rovide [a] DNA sample". (1:5).

Mr. Cox pled guilty to second degree recklessly endangering safety with the possession of tetrahydrocannabinols charge ordered dismissed and read-in. (23). He also pled guilty to a non-criminal first-offense operating while intoxicated in a related traffic matter. (23).

The sentencing occurred the same day.² The circuit court, the Honorable William W. Brash, III, presiding, sentenced Mr. Cox to prison. (24:33-34;App.122-123).

The court further ordered that—assuming that Mr. Cox had been previously ordered to provide a DNA sample—he would not be responsible for paying the DNA Surcharge in this case:

 $^{^{2}}$ The plea and sentencing hearings are set forth in two separate transcripts. (23;24).

THE COURT: I'm assuming, Counsel, he's previously submitted a DNA sample?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I believe he has.

THE COURT: All right. I'll order him to submit one if he hasn't previously done so. He doesn't have to repeat that process. And assuming for the sake of argument that he's already done that, *I'm going to waive the imposition* of the DNA surcharge with regards to this matter.

(24:36;App.125)(emphasis added).

Toward the end of sentencing, the court again declared its intention that Mr. Cox *not* be required to pay the DNA Surcharge. Defense counsel asked: "how much are court costs?" (24:37;App.126). The court responded: "The answer is I don't know because *when I take out the DNA surcharge*—was [sic] is the DNA surcharge currently? 250 minus. So whatever the balance of the court costs are." (24:37;App.126) (emphasis added).

The judgment of conviction, however, states that Mr. Cox is required to pay the \$250 DNA Surcharge. (11;App.107-108).

Mr. Cox filed a post-conviction motion. (18). He noted that the judgment of conviction from an earlier case (10-CF-4234) attached to the complaint here demonstrated that he had been previously ordered to provide a DNA sample. (18:3). As such, he argued that the imposition of the DNA Surcharge was a clerical error in conflict with the circuit court's oral pronouncements at sentencing. (18). He also argued that the the court had authority to waive the Surcharge. (18).

The circuit court, the Honorable T. Christopher Dee now presiding, issued an order denying the post-conviction motion. (19;App.109-110). The court concluded that it "had no authority under the statute to waive or vacate the surcharge on the basis that the defendant previously provided the DNA sample in another case." (19:1;App.109). The court further held that "[a]lthough Judge Brash apparently believed that he had the authority to waive the surcharge in this case, the fact remains that the defendant was sentenced for a felony offense committed after January 1, 2014, and therefore, the court was required by law to impose the surcharge." (19:2;App.110).

Mr. Cox appealed. He argued that circuit courts generally have broad authority at sentencing. (Cox COA Briefs). He further noted that in the same Act in which the Legislature implemented the new DNA Surcharge statute, it also added language to the nearby Crime Victim and Witness Assistance Surcharge (hereinafter "Victim Witness Surcharge") statute providing that the Victim Witness Surcharge could not be "waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason". (Cox COA Briefs).

He argued that the presence of this language in the Victim Witness Surcharge statute, juxtaposed with absence of such language in the new DNA Surcharge statute, reflected that sentencing courts retain authority to waive the automatically-imposed DNA Surcharge. (Cox COA Briefs).

The Court of Appeals certified to this Court the issue of whether a circuit court has authority to waive a post-January 1, 2014, DNA Surcharge. In its Certification, the Court of Appeals noted that "the principles of statutory construction seemingly favor Cox's construction of the statute." (Certification at 4;App.104).

It also "recognize[d] that in a given case courts may choose to use that discretion to waive all or parts of DNA [S]urcharges to preserve a defendant's ability to meet other financial obligations such as restitution to the victim." (Certification at 4;App.104). Nevertheless, the Court expressed two concerns with ruling in Mr. Cox's favor:

(1) that recognizing that a court has authority to waive the automatically-imposed DNA Surcharge might "run afoul" of recent case law from both the Court of Appeals and this Court addressing challenges to the new DNA Surcharge statute as violations of a defendant's protections against *ex post facto* punishment;

(2) that Mr. Cox's construction of the statute "would allow waiver of the DNA [S]urcharge for sex criminals, which [the Court] believes was not allowed under the previous version of the statute and which [the Court] doubt[s] the [L]egislature intended."

(Certification at 4-6;App.104-106).

The Court explained that because other DNA Surcharge cases were pending before this Court³, and because it believed those decisions and published decisions of the Court of Appeals "may turn on the issue presented here," it requested certification . (Certification at 4-6;App.104-106).

This Court granted the Certification.

³ At the time the Court of Appeals filed the Certification here, its certification in *State v. Odom*, No. 15AP2525-CR was pending and a petition for review was pending in *State v. Williams*, 2017 WI App 46, 377 Wis. 2d 247, 900 N.W.2d 310. *See* (Certification at 5;App.105). Since then, this Court has accepted review of both *Odom* and *Williams*. *See* Wisconsin Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Access (WSCCA) records for *Odom*, No. 15AP2525-CR (reflecting that the certification was granted on September 12, 2017); and *Williams*, 2017 WI App 46, 377 Wis. 2d 247, 900 N.W.2d 310 (reflecting that the petitions for review were granted on October 10, 2017).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Had the Authority to Waive the \$250 DNA Surcharge. The Court's Oral Pronouncements Trump the Written Judgment and This Court Should Order that the Circuit Court Amend the Judgment to Vacate the \$250 DNA Surcharge.

Principles of Law and Standards of Review

In general, circuit courts have broad discretion and authority at sentencing. *See, e.g., State v. Jorgensen*, 2003 WI 105, ¶¶ 12, 27, 264 Wis. 2d 157, 667 N.W.2d 318; *State v. Douglas*, 2013 WI App 52, ¶ 20, 347 Wis. 2d 407, 830 N.W.2d 126. At the same time, the sentencing court's authority is controlled by statute. *State v. Maron*, 214 Wis. 2d 384, 388, 571 N.W.2d 454 (Ct. App. 1997).

"[I]t is the legislative province to prescribe the punishment for a particular crime and the judicial province to impose that punishment." *State v. Machner*, 101 Wis. 2d 79, 81, 303 N.W.2d 633 (1981). "Trial courts have broad discretionary power to deal with individual cases on their merits. These powers are as broad and inclusive as in the opinion of the [L]egislature was consistent with sound public policy." *Id.* at 81-82 (quoting *Drewniak v. State ex rel. Jacquest*, 239 Wis. 475, 488, 1 N.W. 899 (1942)).

This case requires this Court to interpret Wisconsin Statute § 973.046, the DNA Surcharge statute. Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Peters*, 2003 WI 88, ¶ 13, 263 Wis. 2d 475, 665 N.W.2d 171.

Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Ct. for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

"Context is important to meaning. So, too, is the structure of the statute in which the operative language appears. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole." *Id.*, \P 46.

Statutory language is interpreted "in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.* Further, statutory language is read "to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." *Id.*

Another important rule of statutory construction is that "where a statute with respect to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant in showing that a different intention existed." *State v. Welkos*, 14 Wis. 2d 186, 192, 109 N.W.2d 889 (1961); *see also Kimberly-Clark Corp. v. Public Service Com'n of Wisconsin*, 110 Wis. 2d 455, 463, 329 N.W.2d 143 (1983).

Though the use of the word "shall" is generally presumed to impose a mandatory requirement, "the [L]egislature's use of the word 'shall' is not governed by a per se rule." *Bank of New York Mellon v. Carson*, 2015 WI 15, ¶ 22, 361 Wis. 2d 23, 859 N.W.2d 422.

Indeed, this Court has explained that the word "shall" "will be construed as directory if necessary to carry out the intent of the legislature." *Id.* (quoting *State v. R.R.E.*, 162 Wis. 2d 698, 707, 470 N.W.2d 283 (1991)).

- A. The circuit court had authority to waive the \$250 DNA Surcharge.
 - i. The DNA Surcharge statute

Under the previous version of the DNA Surcharge statute, if a court imposed a sentence or placed a person on probation for a felony offense other than certain sex offenses, a sentencing court had to affirmatively exercise its discretion if it wished to impose a single \$250 DNA Surcharge:

(1g) Except as provided in sub. (1r), if a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a felony conviction, the court *may* impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge of \$250.

(**1r**) If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a violation of s. 940.225, 948.02(1) or (2), 948.025, 948.085, the court *shall* impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge of \$250.

Wis. Stat. §§ 973.046(1g), (1r) (2011-12)(emphasis added). *See also State v. Cherry*, 2008 WI App 80, 312 Wis. 2d 303, 752 N.W.2d 393 (explaining that the imposition of a DNA Surcharge under the old DNA Surcharge statute for non sex-offenses required an affirmative exercise of a sentencing court's discretion and outlining factors for a court to consider in exercising that discretion).

Pursuant to 2013 Wisconsin Act 20, the Legislature created the current statute, which provides that a court "shall" impose a DNA Surcharge for each felony and misdemeanor conviction, effective January 1, 2014. 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 2354, 2355, 9326, 9426.

Thus, the DNA surcharge statute now provides:

(1r) If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation, the court shall impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge, calculated as follows:

(a) For each conviction for a felony, \$250.

(b) For each conviction for a misdemeanor, \$200.

Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r)(App.134-135).

Therefore, under the new DNA Surcharge statute, a defendant will by default (without any affirmative exercise of discretion from the court) be assessed a DNA Surcharge for every conviction.

ii. The Victim Witness Surcharge statute

In close proximity to the DNA Surcharge statute is the Victim Witness Surcharge statute set forth in Wisconsin Statute § 973.045. (App.134-135).

The statutes are similarly structured in many ways: the Victim Witness Surcharge statute, like the DNA Surcharge statute, provides that "[i]f a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation, the court *shall* impose" a Victim Witness Surcharge. Wis. Stat. § 973.045(1); (App.134-135) (emphasis added). The Victim Witness Surcharge statute, like the DNA Surcharge statute, provides that a specific amount be imposed for each felony conviction (\$92) and for each misdemeanor conviction (\$67). *Id.*; (App.134-135).

But unlike the language of the DNA Surcharge statute, the Legislature chose to include the following language in the Victim Witness Surcharge statute: "A surcharge imposed under this subsection may not be waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason." *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 973.045(1) *with* Wis. Stat. § 973.046. (App.134-135).

The Legislature added this statutory language prohibiting a court from waiving the Victim Witness Surcharge as part of 2013 Wisconsin Act 20, published July 1, 2013. 2013 Wis. Act. 20, § 2348.

Prior to this act, the Victim Witness Surcharge statute provided that a sentencing court "shall impose" the Surcharges, but did not include language prohibiting waiver of the Surcharge. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 973.045 (2011-12) *with* Wis. Stat. § 973.045 (2015-16)(App.134).

> iii. Fundamental rules of statutory construction demonstrate that the Legislature intended that circuit courts have the authority to waive the automatically-imposed DNA Surcharge.

Importantly, the Legislature thus implemented the new DNA Surcharge statute in the same Act in which the Legislature added the language prohibiting a court from waiving the Victim Witness Surcharge. 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 2348, 2354, 2355, 9326, 9426.

The Legislature's decision in this single Act to include language prohibiting the waiver of the Victim Witness Surcharge and its decision to *not* include the same language in the DNA Surcharge statute—under multiple principles of statutory interpretation and construction—demonstrates that the Legislature intended for circuit courts to have the authority to waive the DNA Surcharge:

- The statutes are close in proximity and share similar structures; consideration of the DNA Surcharge statute in "[c]ontext" "in relation to the language of" this "surrounding" and "closely-related" statute reflects that the Legislature intended the DNA Surcharge statute and Victim Witness Surcharge statutes to function in similar ways. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46.
- However, the Legislature's decision—in the very same Act—to include a specific provision explaining that a court cannot waive the Victim Witness Surcharge, but to not include this language in the newly-revised DNA Surcharge statute, reflects the Legislature's "different intention"; specifically, that circuit courts cannot waive the Victim Witness Surcharge but can waive the DNA Surcharge. *See Welkos*, 14 Wis. 2d at 192.
- Further, to hold that the Legislature intended the word "shall" to impose on circuit courts a mandatory requirement to both impose *and* never waive such Surcharges would render the Legislature's language prohibiting waiver of the Victim Witness Surcharge surplusage. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46.

Thus, the long-standing principles of statutory construction reflect that circuit courts do have authority to waive the DNA Surcharge under the new statute. The Court of Appeals appears to agree: "the principles of statutory construction seemingly favor Cox's construction of the statute". (Certification at 4;App.104).

iv. The Legislature's decision to provide courts with the power to waive the DNA Surcharge is consistent with the broad discretion and authority generally afforded sentencing courts.

The fact that the Legislature chose to specify which surcharge could *not* be waived—the Victim Witness Surcharge—reflects the Legislature's recognition of the broad authority circuit courts generally hold when imposing and modifying criminal sentences. *See Douglas*, 347 Wis. 2d 407, ¶ 20; *see also State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828 (discussing circuit courts' inherent authority to modify criminal sentences).

Indeed, circuit courts have perhaps no broader discretion and authority in criminal proceedings than at sentencing. Reviewing courts generally afford sentencing decisions a "strong presumption of reasonability." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 18, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197 (quoted source omitted). As this Court recognized in *Gallion*, circuit courts are "best suited to consider the relevant factors and demeanor of the convicted defendant." *Id.* (quoted source omitted).

Circuit courts are in the best position to assess what requirements upon the defendant are necessary and appropriate to achieve its sentencing objectives, taking into consideration of the protection of the public, gravity of the offense, and character of the defendant. *See id.*, ¶ 44. (quoted source omitted).

As the Court of Appeals' Certification recognized, at times a sentencing court may determine that those objectives are not advanced by requiring a defendant to pay one or more DNA Surcharges and waive the Surcharge or Surcharges: Cox notes that generally, sentencing courts are accorded substantial discretion. We recognize that in a given case courts may choose to use that discretion to waive all or parts of DNA [S]urcharges to preserve a defendant's ability to meet other financial obligations such as restitution to the victim.

(Certification at 4;App.104).

v. The Court of Appeals' speculation about whether the Legislature would have wanted the possibility of such waiver in sex crime cases does not undermine the application of the rules of statutory construction.

In its Certification, the Court of Appeals recognized that the "principles of statutory construction seemingly favor Cox's construction of the statute" (Certification at 4; App.104).

The Court of Appeals' hesitation with regard to Mr. Cox's statutory construction arguments is that they would appear to "allow waiver of the DNA surcharge for sex criminals," which the Court "believe[s] was not allowed under the previous version of the statute and which we doubt the [L]egislature intended." (Certification at 4;App.104).

The Court of Appeals' concern that perhaps the Legislature did not wish to ever permit the waiver of the DNA Surcharge in sex-based offenses is speculative. That speculative concern does not trump the long-established rules of statutory construction. *See, e.g. Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 52 (explaining that statutory interpretation should focus on "textual, intrinsic sources of statutory meaning" and should not be "conclusory" or "result-oriented").

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