# RECEIVED

## In the Supreme Court of Wishweldensin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL L. COX, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Appeal From The Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable William W. Brash and The Honorable T.C. Dee, Presiding, Case No. 2015CF1187

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

KEVIN M. LEROY Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 leroykm@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-2221

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. This Court in *Scruggs* already concluded that the post-2013 version of the DNA Surcharge Statute involved "the *mandatory* imposition of [the] DNA surcharge." 2017 WI 15, ¶ 3 (emphasis added). Cox does not attempt to make the substantial showing necessary to overrule a decision of this Court, and that is reason enough to affirm the circuit court's decision here.

II. Even putting Scruggs aside, the statutory text, context, and history all support the State's mandatory interpretation of the DNA Surcharge Statute. The statutory text here could not be clearer: the circuit court "shall" impose the surcharge, which is a mandatory command. See Bank of N.Y., 2015 WI 15, ¶¶ 18–27. The statutory context similarly supports the State's mandatory interpretation, as the very next subsection also uses the word "shall" in a way that all agree is mandatory. Wis. Stat. § 973.046(2). And while Cox argues that the mandatory interpretation of the phrase "shall impose" throughout Chapter 973 creates some surplusage in the victim-and-witness surcharge statute, his interpretation is just as problematic on this same score, rendering language in the domestic-abuse surcharge statute superfluous. The surplusage canon thus does not support either interpretation. Finally, the statutory history plainly provides that the Legislature changed the Statute from "may" to "shall" precisely to make the surcharge mandatory.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. This Court In Scruggs Already Held That The DNA Surcharge Statute Is Mandatory, And Cox Does Not Attempt To Carry His Burden For Overruling A Decision Of This Court

This Court in Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, held that the DNA Surcharge Statute, as amended in 2013, is mandatory. Scruggs had committed his crime before 2013, when all agree that the DNA Surcharge Statute was discretionary, id. ¶ 50, but the circuit court imposed the surcharge after January 1, 2014, when the current version of the DNA Surcharge Statute applied, id. ¶¶ 7–8. In deciding that imposing the surcharge did not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause, this Court repeatedly explained that the post-2013 version of the statute involved "the mandatory imposition of [the] DNA surcharge."  $Id. \ \P \ 3$ (emphasis added); see also id. ¶¶ 1–2, 8–10, 14–15, 25–27, 33, 37–38. Numerous Court of Appeals decisions have adopted the same understanding. See State v. Hill, 2016 WI App 29, ¶ 27, 368 Wis. 2d 243, 878 N.W.2d 709 ("the circuit court was required under the new law to impose a \$250 DNA surcharge"); State v. Elward, 2015 WI App 51, ¶ 2, 363 Wis. 2d 628, 866 N.W.2d 756 ("circuit courts [are] mandated to impose the surcharge"); State v. Radaj, 2015 WI App 50, ¶ 1, 363 Wis. 2d 633, 866 N.W.2d 758 ("the revised statute provides for a mandatory surcharge").

*Scruggs* is entitled to respect as a decision of this Court, and Cox has not even attempted to make the robust showing

overruling that decision. The necessary for State understands, of course, that the issue in dispute between the parties in the present case—whether the DNA Surcharge Statute is, in fact, mandatory—was not "full[y] brief[ed] or argu[ed]" in Scruggs. Hohn v. United States, 524 U.S. 236, 251 (1998). This Court is thus "less constrained to follow" Scruggs' statutory conclusion than it would be if the statutory issue had been fully briefed and argued in that case. *Id.* (emphasis added). Nevertheless, Scruggs is still a precedent of this Court and entitled to respect as such. See Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Emp'rs Ins. of Wausau, 2003 WI 108, ¶ 94, 264 Wis. 2d 60, 665 N.W.2d 257 ("This court follows the doctrine of stare decisis scrupulously because of our abiding respect for the rule of law."). Cox does not even attempt to his statutory arguments that are sufficiently argue compelling to justify overruling a decision of this Court. That is reason enough to affirm the circuit court's ruling, as it is consistent with this Court's understanding of the meaning of the DNA Surcharge Statute in *Scruggs*.

Indeed, rather than arguing that his statutory argument is sufficiently powerful to overcome stare decisis, Cox attempts to change the subject, asserting that the Ex Post Facto Clause argument that *Scruggs* rejected still could have been raised against Cox's understanding of the DNA Surcharge Statute (because, according to Cox, the current version of the statute creates a *default* of a surcharge, whereas the prior version contained no such default). *See* 

Opening Br. 16–18. This Ex Post Facto Clause argument is beside the point. This Court in *Scruggs clearly* concluded that the DNA Surcharge Statute was "mandatory," 2017 WI 15, ¶ 3 (emphasis added); see also id. ¶¶ 1–3, 8–10, 14–15, 25–27, 33, 37–38, a position that Cox urges this Court to now reject. Whether the same (or similar) ex post facto argument still could have been raised against Cox's preferred version of the statute does not change the fact that *Scruggs* adopted the State's understanding of the statute.

## II. Even If One Were To Put Scruggs Aside, The DNA Surcharge Statute Is Clearly Mandatory

This Court interprets statutes according to "the text and structure of the statute itself' in order "to faithfully give effect to the laws enacted by the legislature." State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 44–48, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. The Court reads the text "in the context in which it is used[,] not in isolation but as part of a whole." *Id.* ¶ 46. The Court interprets a statute "in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes," and "where possible give[s] reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid [both] surplusage" and "absurd" results. *Id.* The Court may also consult statutory history, the ¶ 46. "previously enacted and repealed provisions of a statute," as part of its textual analysis. Richards v. Badger Mut. Ins. Co., 2008 WI 52, ¶ 22, 309 Wis. 2d 541, 749 N.W.2d 581. Here, the DNA Surcharge Statute's text, context, and statutory history

all lead to the inescapable conclusion that the statute imposes a mandatory duty on courts to impose the surcharge.

### A. Statutory Text—"Shall Impose"—Requires The Mandatory Interpretation

The text of the DNA Surcharge Statute provides: "If a court imposes a sentence . . . the court *shall* impose a [DNA] analysis surcharge." Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r) (emphasis added). This text has a simple, unambiguous meaning: the surcharge is mandatory.

When a statute uses the word "shall," courts, including this Court, "[g]enerally . . . presume[]" that the word denotes a mandatory command, not a grant of discretionary authority. Bank of N.Y., 2015 WI 15, ¶ 21 (citations omitted); see also, e.g., Lexecon Inc. v. Milberg Weiss Bershad Hynes & Lerach, 523 U.S. 26, 27 (1998) ("shall" [] normally creates an obligation impervious to judicial discretion"); see also Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 112–15 (1st ed. 2012); 3 Sutherland Statutory Construction § 57:2 (7th ed.). This Court will interpret "shall" as directory only if the "legislative intent"—which must be expressed in the text, Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44—so provides. State ex rel. Marberry v. Macht, 2003 WI 79, ¶ 15, 262 Wis. 2d 720, 665 N.W.2d 155.

This Court and the United States Supreme Court have regularly applied the presumption that "shall" is mandatory unless other statutory text makes clear that the term is directory. For example, in *Bank of New York*, this Court

considered Wis. Stat. § 846.102(1), which governs the sale of certain foreclosed property. 2015 WI 15, ¶¶ 1–2, 18. The statute provided: "if the court [finds the foreclosed property] abandoned . . . the sale of such [abandoned] premises shall be made." Id. ¶ 18 (citation omitted). This Court held that the plain meaning of "shall" was mandatory: the statute identifies a specific actor—the court—and imposes a specific duty ordering the sale of the foreclosed premises, even if a foreclosing bank happened to object. See id. ¶¶ 18, 27. See also State v. Hemp, 2014 WI 129, ¶¶ 31–32, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811 (same analysis for expungement statute). Similarly, in Kingdomware Technologies, Inc. v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 1969 (2016), the U.S. Supreme Court interpreted 38 U.S.C. § 8127(d), which states that the Department of Veterans Affairs "shall award' contracts to veteran-owned small businesses when there is a 'reasonable expectation' that two or more such businesses will bid for the contract." Id. at 1973 (quoting § 8127(d)). Just as with Bank of New York, the statute identifies a specific actor—the VA and a clear duty—awarding a contract—thus the plain text supports a "mandatory, not discretionary" interpretation. See id. at 1976–77. When two qualifying businesses bid on a contract, the "text requires the Department . . . to award [the] contract[] to" one of those qualifying businesses. *Id*.

In the present case, the DNA Surcharge Statute provides in unambiguous terms: "[i]f a court imposes a sentence . . . the court shall impose a [DNA] analysis

surcharge." Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r). The statute's use of "shall" is identical in all relevant respects to that of the statutes at issue in cases such as *Bank of New York* and *Kingdomware*: the statute identifies an actor—the court—and gives a clear duty—imposition of a surcharge whenever the court "imposes a sentence." Thus the plain text requires a mandatory, not directory, interpretation.

Cox responds that the DNA Surcharge Statute's text creates only a default rule for whether the surcharge applies. Opening Br. 9–10, 16. That is, "a defendant will by default ... be assessed a DNA Surcharge," "without any affirmative exercise of discretion from the court," but the circuit court can put aside that default at its option. Opening Br. 10. No statutory text supports Cox's default-rule interpretation, as Cox simply reads into the law concepts that are not there. The DNA Surcharge Statute provides that the circuit court "shall impose" the surcharge; and it does not say, as Cox would have it, that "the default is that the surcharge will be imposed, but the circuit court can choose not to impose it." Courts may not "read extra words into a statute" or "supply something that is not provided in a statute." Lang v. Lang, 161 Wis. 2d 210, 224, 467 N.W.2d 772 (1991).

Cox also argues that the "broad discretion and authority generally afforded sentencing courts" favors his default-rule reading of the statutory text. Opening Br. 13. But as Cox recognizes, a "sentencing court's authority is controlled by statute." Opening Br. 7 (citing *State v. Maron*,

214 Wis. 2d 384, 388, 571 N.W.2d 454 (Ct. App. 1997)); accord Donaldson v. State, 93 Wis. 2d 306, 310, 286 N.W.2d 817 (1980) ("A court's authority in sentencing . . . is controlled by statute."). And the DNA Surcharge Statute provides that the court "shall" impose the surcharge, which is a classic way of limiting discretion. See Bank of N.Y., 2015 WI 15, ¶ 18.

## B. Statutory Context Supports The State's Mandatory Interpretation

This Court has looked to text related to the statute at hand to confirm whether the use of "shall" is mandatory or permissive. For example, in Bank of New York, this Court explained that the duty in Section 846.102(1)—that courts "shall" order the sale of some foreclosed properties, despite the foreclosing bank's preferences—is mandatory because the Legislature used "may" elsewhere in the "same statutory section." 2015 WI 15,  $\P$  23. Interpreting "shall" as "may" would therefore fail to give these two words "distinct meanings." Id.; see State ex rel. Krueger v. Appleton Area Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ., 2017 WI 70, ¶ 42, 376 Wis. 2d 239, 898 N.W.2d 35 (this Court "presum[es] that the legislature chose its terms carefully and precisely to express its meaning" (citation omitted)). This Court has also looked to "neighboring" statutes" of Section 846.102, noting they did incorporate the "preference[s]" of foreclosing banks, further emphasizing that Section 846.102 used "shall" as a mandatory command that was insensitive to banks' preferences. Bank of N.Y., 2015 WI 15, ¶¶ 24, 26 (rejecting losing party's statutory-context argument because the statutes it identified were "significantly different"); accord Kingdomware, 136 S. Ct. at 1977 ("[w]hen a statute distinguishes between 'may' and 'shall," shall "imposes a mandatory duty").

The most immediate statutory context supports the State's mandatory interpretation of the "shall impose" clause. Subsection 973.046(2)—the subsection immediately following the "shall impose" clause—provides that "the clerk" "shall" "determine[] the [surcharge] amount due" and then "collect and transmit the amount to the county treasurer." Wis. Stat. § 973.046(2). There can be no dispute that this "shall" clause is mandatory: it would have been absurd for the Legislature to grant the clerk of the court the discretionary power to collect or not collect the DNA surcharge once the court itself has imposed it on a convicted defendant. See Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46. Since this "shall" is mandatory, the "shall" directed at the court in the immediately prior subsection should also be interpreted as mandatory. See Coutts v. Wis. Ret. Bd., 209 Wis. 2d 655, 668–69, 562 N.W.2d 917 (1997) ("When the same term is used repeatedly in a single statutory section . . . the legislature intended that the term possess an identical meaning each time it appears.").

The centerpiece of Cox's argument in this case is a different contextual argument, related to a different provision in Chapter 973. In particular, the victim-and-witness surcharge provision, Wis. Stat. § 973.045(1), contains both a "shall impose" clause similar to the one found in the DNA

Surcharge Statute and a specific clause providing that "[a] surcharge imposed under this subsection may not be waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason." *Id.* Cox argues that this means that the "shall impose" clauses in both the victim-and-witness surcharge provision and the DNA Surcharge Statute cannot be mandatory because a mandatory interpretation would render the "may not be waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason" clause in the victim-and-witness surcharge provision surplusage. *See* Opening Br. 8, 10–13.

The victim-and-witness surcharge provision and the surplusage canon do not save Cox's argument. Under that canon, a court should attempt to "give reasonable effect to every word," to "avoid surplusage" "where possible." Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46 (emphases added). Cox may perhaps be right that, under the State's interpretation of the "shall impose" clause (and assuming the "shall impose" clauses have the same meaning across all of the Chapter 973 surcharges), the "may not be waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason" clause has no legal effect beyond a belt-and-suspenders reinforcement of the "shall" command. See infra pp. 20–22. Yet Cox's interpretation creates its own surplusage in a different provision of Chapter 973. In particular, the domestic-abuse surcharge provision, Wis. Stat. § 973.055, contains a "shall impose" clause just like the victim-andwitness surcharge provision and the DNA Surcharge Statute. The domestic-abuse surcharge provision, however, also contains a clause specifically providing that the court "may

waive part or all of the domestic abuse surcharge . . . if it determines that the imposition of the full surcharge would have a negative impact on the offender's family." § 973.055(4). If Cox were correct that a "shall impose" clause simply creates a default rule from which the circuit court can deviate, and that the "shall impose" clauses must have the same meaning throughout Chapter 973, this exit ramp would be entirely unnecessary. Put another way, interpreting the "shall impose" clauses consistently throughout all of Chapter 973 would cause surplusage in *either* the victim-and-witness surcharge provision (under the State's reading) or the domestic-abuse surcharge provision (under Cox's reading), meaning that this aspect of the statutory context of the *Kalal* factors is in equipoise. Given that the remaining considerations strongly favor the State's reading, that reading should prevail. This is especially the case because this Court already adopted the State's interpretation in Scruggs. See *supra* pp. 11–13.

Having said that, the legislative history offers some indication that the "may not be waived, reduced, or forgiven for any reason" clause was aimed at solving a real-world problem, specific to the victim-and-witness surcharge provision, by serving "a 'belt-and-suspenders function." *N. Highland Inc. v. Jefferson Mach. & Tool Inc.*, 2017 WI 75, ¶ 137, 377 Wis. 2d 496, 898 N.W.2d 741 (R.G. Bradley, J., dissenting) (quoting Scalia & Garner, *supra*, at 204). The Legislature added this provision to Chapter 973 with Act 20

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